STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

Petitioner State Farm Fire and Casualty Company seeks review of a decision from the 

Third District Court of Appcals which the Third District certified to be in conflict with other Florida 

appellate decisions. Thc pcrtinent facts and history of the case which led to these proceedings are 

set forth bolow. 

Petitioner State Farm Fire and Casualty Company issued a homeowners policy to 

Respondents Eliccr and Hermid Licea with a policy period from July 19, 1992 through July 19, 1993. 

(A copy of the policy is attachcd to this brief as an appendix for case of reference),’ In August of 

1992, the Liceas’ home was damaged in hurricane Andrew. (R. 16,23), State Farm paid for repairs 

and replacement costs for various items and damages causcd by the hurricane,2 but the partics were 

unable to agree on the amount of loss sustained in connection with the roof of the Liceas’ home. 

(R. 16,23), 

The homeowners policy contains a clause which allows the parties to obtain a binding 

appraisal on the amount of loss if they are unable to agree on an amount between themselves. 

(R. 43; A.17). The clause provides as follows: 

Appraisal. If you and we fail to agree on the amount of hss, either 
one can demand that the amount of the loss be set by appraisal. If 
either makes a written demand for appraisal, each shall select a 
competent, independent appraiser. Each shall notify the other of the 
appraiser’s identity within 20 days of receipt of the written demand, 

All references to the record prepared by the Clerk of the Third District appear as follows: 
). All emphasis in this brief is added unless 

1 

(R. 
otherwise stated. 

) . References to the appendix appear as (A. 

It is undisputed between the parties that State Farm has already paid the Liceas over 2 

$180,000 for hurricane related losses and damages to the Liceas’ home and its contents. 

1 
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T h e  two appraiscrs shall then select a competent, impartial umpire. 
If the two appraisers are unable to agree upon an umpire within 15 
days, you or we can ask a judge of a coiirr of record in the state where 
the residence premises is located to select an umpire. The appraisers 
shall then set the amount of the loss. If thc appraisers submit a 
written report of an agreement to us, the amount agreed upon shall 
be the amount of the loss. If the appraisers fail to agree within a 
reasonable time, they shall submit their differences to thc umpire. 
Written agreement signed by any two of these three shall set the 
u w n t  of the loss. Each appraiser shall be paid by the party selecting 
that appraiser. Other expenses of the appraisal and the compensation 
of the umpirc shall be paid equally by you and us. 

(R. 43; A.17). 

On July 20,1993, Mr. Licea wrore to State Farm “in rcsponse to the appraisal process 

that has been prcsented to me as an option for sertling on this claim[.]” (R, 19). In his letter, Mr. 

Licea selected a certain roofing company as the appraiser for the Liceas, (R. 19). The  Liceas 

subsequently selected a different appraiser, and State Farm also sclected an appraiser. (R. 14, 54). 

T h e  appraisers were unable to agree on an umpire. (R. 16, 20, 24). Accordingly, 

pursuant to the terms of tlic appraisal clause, Statc Farm filed a motion in Dadc County circuit court 

asking a judge to appoint an umpire, (R. 15-21). 

Although the Liceas had already selected an appraiser, and although the appraisal 

process was already well underway - an umpire just needed to be selected - the Liceas answered 

the motion for appointment of an umpire by objecting to such an appointment, and by claiming that 

the appraisal clause was invalid. (R. 23-25), The Liceas also filed a ‘counterclaim’, alleging that 

State Farm had breached the insurance contract by not just rcplacing the Liceas’ roof without an 

appraisal and agreement as to the amount of loss. (R. 25-27). 

2 
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The trial court denied the motion for appointment of an umpire, apparently on thc 

basis of the Third District’s decision in American Reliance Insurance Co. v. The Village Hmncs at 

Counmy Walk, 632 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 3d DC A 1994), rev. denied, 640 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1994), which 

held a different appraisal clausc from a different casualty policy to be unenforceable for lack of 

mutuality. (R. 4’69-73). 

State Farm appealed, and a panel of the Third District issued the decision presently 

under rcview. State Fum Fire and Casualty Company v. Licea, 649 So. 2d 910 (Fla, 3d DCA 1995). 

(R 307-3 13). The Third District panel’s opinion began by reciting thc pertinent facts and by noting 

a belief that Americun Reliunce v. Country Walk was wrongly dccidcd: 

The Licead home sustained damage during hurricane Andrew. State 
Farm was their insurance carrier. A dispute over thc amount of 
damage arose. The Licea’s policy containcd an appraisal clause. 
Pursuant to that clause the parties each selected an appraiser but the 
appraisers could not agree on an umpire. State Farm moved for 
appointment of an umpire. At hearing on State Farm’s motion the 
Liceas argued that, based on this court’s holding in Americun Reliunce 
v. Country Walk, 632 So. 2d 106 (Fla, 3d DCA), rev. denied, 640 So. 
2d 1106 (Fla, 1994), the appraisal clausc lacked mutuality and thus 
was void. On the authority of this court’s decision in American 
Reliance PI. Country Walk the court denied Statc Farm’s motion. This 
appeal followed. 

This panel is of thc opinion that Judge Cope’s dissent in Americun 
Reliance v.  Country Wulk sets forth rhe correct rule of law, to wit: 
That by participating in an arbitration proceeding to determine thc 
amount of loss suffered by an insured the insurer is in no way 
deprived of the right to later contest the existence of insurancc 
coverage for that loss. 

649 So. 2d at 91 1. (R 307-308). The Third District then went on to cite numerous authorities from 

the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court, and the Florida district courts of 

appeal which allow for - and, indeed, approve of - insurance contract clauses under which the 

3 
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parties agree to submit some issues (such as amount of loss) to arbitration or appraisal, even though 

questions of coverage remain as yucstions to be dctcrmined by the courts. 649 So. 2d at 911-912. 

(R. 308-3 11). On the basis of these numerous authorities, the Third District concluded its opinion 

in this case by stating: 

Accordingly, a request, addressed to the entire court, was made to set 
this matter for en bunc consideration so that [American Reliance v.] 
Country Walk could be revisited and possibly reccdcd from. That 
request was denied. Under the circumstances this pancl is compelled 
by the doctrine of sure decisis, to follow this court's earlier decision in 
[Amcricun Reliance v.]Councry Walk. 

649 So. Zd at 912. (R. 3 11). Although compelled to follow the American Reliance w. Country Walk 

decision of which it disapproved, the Third District panel concluded by certifying conflict to this 

Court: 

However, we do, pursuant to Article V Section 3(b)(3)(4) of the 
Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a) (2) (A) (iv) (vi) of the Florida 
Rules of Appellate Procedure, certify an express and direct conflict 
between our holding today and Montalvo v. Travelers, 643 So. 2d 648 
(Fla. 5th DCA 1994); J.J.F. off'ulm Beach v. State Farm, 634 So. 2d 
1089 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); U.S.F.@G. v. Woolmd, 523 So. Zd 798 
(Fla. 1st DCA 1988); and Kenilevorth Insurance w. Druke, 396 So. 2d 
836 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) as cited herein. 

The order under review is affirmed, the conflict certified. 

649 So, 2d at912. (R. 311-312). 

Petitioner State Farm thereupon filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary 

jurisdiction on the basis of the Third District's certification, and also on grounds that the decision 

expressly and directly conflicts with additional decisions of this Court and of other Florida district 

courts of appeal. (R. 317-318). This Court issued an order which postponed its decision on 

4 
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jurisdiction and directed the parties to serve their briefs on the merits (R. 319), and these 

proceedings ensued. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Appraisal clauscs in insurance policies provide a simple and efficient way for the 

parties to obtain a binding dctcrmination on what is often the only disputcd issuc between them - 

the amount of the loss, Appraisals - likened by Florida law to arbitrations - are favored as a 

matter of public policy because they reduce litigation. 

This Court has already determined - as has thc United States Supreme Court - 

that appraisal clauses in insurance policies are valid and enforceable. This Court has also already 

determined that appraisal clauses are not lacking in mutuality simply because thcy bind the parties 

only on the issue of the amount of the loss, leaving covcrage questions for determination by the 

courts. 

In direct conflict with this Court’s decision and numerous Florida district court 

dccisions, a panel of the Third District held in the American Reliunce Y. Country Wulk case that an 

appraisal clause is unenforceable on lack of mutuality grounds because the policy reserved coverage 

questions for dctcrmination by the courts. The panel in the instant case - unable to obtain en hunc 

rcconsideration of American Reliunce Y. Country Wulk - felt constrained to follow it under stare 

decisis principles, but also stated that it was a wrong decision and certified the conflict to this Court. 

We here respcctfully submit that this Court’s conflict jurisdiction should be exercised 

to reaffirm the validity and enforceability of appraisal clauses, There is every reason to adhere to the 

long-established law favoring appraisal as a rapid and efficient means for obtaining a mutually 

5 
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binding determination on the amount of an insurance loss. The American Reliance v. Country Walk 

decision is not only an abcrration, but it has no policy considerations to commend it. The decision 

will only generate completely unnecessary litigation as long as it is allowed to stand, 

American Reliance v. Country Walk should be overruled and this case reversed 

precisely as the Third District panel has indicated the result should be in certifying the conflict to 

this Court. 

6 
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ARGUMENT 

A. ARGUMENT ON THE MERITS 

1, Appraisal clauses and their long history of court approval 

At issue in this case is the validity of an appraisal clause in an insurance policy. The 

clause simply provides a incans for the insured and the insurance company to get a binding 

determination as to the ainount of a loss when they are unable to agree on the amount themselves 

without the necessity of undergoing the expense and delay of litigating thc issue within thc court 

system. 

The mechanics of the appraisal clause arc quite straightforward. Each party selects 

an independent appraiser, and the two appraisers then sclcct an umpire. If the appraisers cannot 

agree upon an umpirc, then the insurcd or the insurance company can ask a judgc to select an 

umpire. The appraisers then set the amount of the loss. If they agrec “the amount agreed upon shall 

bc the amount of the loss.” (R, 43; A.17). If the appraisers fail to agree, they are to submit their 

differences to the umpire, and “written agreement signed by any two of these three shall set the 

amount of the loss.” (R. 43; A. 17). 

Appraisal clauses similar to that contained in the State Farm policy here haw been 

used throughout thc insurance industry - and approved by the courts - for over 100 years. As 

thc United States Supreme Court stated over a century ago: 

Such a stipulation, not ousting the jurisdiction of the Courts, but 
leaving the general question of liability to be judicially determined, 
and simply pouiding a reasonable method of estimating and 
ascertaining the amount of the loss is unquestionably valid, according 
to thc uniform currcnt of authority in England and in this Country. 

7 
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Hamilton v. Liverpool B London Globe Insurance Co., 

419 (1890). The Supreme Court similarly stated in 

136 US.  242,255, 10 S,Ct, 945,949,34 L.Ed. 

another decision issued the same year: 

A provision in a contract for the payment of money upon a 
contingency that the amount to be paid shall bc submitted to 
arbitrators, whose award shall be final as to that amount, but shall not 
determine the general question of liability, is undoubtedly valid. 

H~lmilton v. Hme Insurance Co., 137 US.  370,385, 11 SCt. 133, 138,34 L,Ed. 708 (1890). Or, as 

this Court put it in a dccision issued during that same time period: 

Ever since the decision in 1853 in the HOUSE OF LORDS BY 
COLERIDGE J. of Awry v. Scott, 8 Exch. 499, it has been uniformly 
held in England and in this country that provisions like this in a 
policy of insurance for the ascertainment and settlement of the 
amount of loss or damage by submission to arbitrators are proper, 
legal, and binding on the parties[.] 

Hanover Fire Insurmce Co. v. Lewis, 10 So, 297, 302 (Fla. 1891). 

These appraisal clauses are favored in the law because they provide the parties with 

a swift and practical means for obtaining a binding determination of the amount of a loss, which is 

oftcn thc only matter of disagreemcnt bctween them. 

[W]e share in the common knowledge that the amount of loss is a 
fruitful and often the only subject of controversy between insured and 
insurer; that speedy determination of the policy liability such as may 
be secured by arbitration of this issue is a matter of wide concern 
[cites omitted]; that, in the uppraisal of the loss by arbitration, expert 
knowledge and prompt insDection of the damaged propee may be 
availed of to an extent not ordinarily possible in the course of the 
more deliberate processes of a judicial proceeding. 

Hurdwure Dealers’ Mutual Fire lnsurunce Co. w. Glidden Co., 284 U.S. 151, 159, 52 SCt.  69, 71 

(193 1). As a leading insurance commcntator noted: “Generally policy provisions requiring 
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arbitration or appraisal of a loss are valid and binding on the parties. Such provisions are upheld on 

grounds of sound public policy, since they tend to fair dealing and the prevention of litigation.” 

6 APPLEMAN INSURANCE LAW AND PRACTICE $392 I, pp. 5 11-5 12. 

Florida courts have cquatcd appraisal clauses like that involved in the State Farm 

policy here with arbitration clauses, see, e.g., Intrucoclstul Ventures Corp v. Safeco Insurance Co. of 

America, 540 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); U.S. Fire Insurance Co. v. Franko, 443 So, 2d 170 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1983), and have therefore approved enforcement of such clauses as being in keeping 

with Florida’s public policy which favors arbitration as an alternative to litigation. Intracoastul, supra, 

“The courts favor arbitration to expedite claims and reduce litigation.” Midwest Mutual Insurance 

Co. v. Santiestehan, 287 So. 2d 665,667 (Fla. 1973). 

The only concern initially expressed by some courts over these appraisal clauses was 

whether they might be dccmcd an infringement upon litigants’ rights to a jury trial or might bc 

considered an ouster of the courts’ jurisdiction. However, the United States Supreme Court has 

rejected that concern given public policy considerations which encourage parties to agree to 

arbitration and appraisal, See, e.g,, Hardware Dealers’ Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Glidden, Co., 284 

U.S. 151, 52 SCt .  69, 76 L,Ed. 214(1931). This Court also held that appraisal clauses “do not fall 

within that class of arbitraments that undertake to oust the courts of their jurisdiction, and that arc 

therefore obnoxious to thc law.” Hunover Fire Insurance Co. v. Lewis, supra, 10 So. at 302, See also, 

e.g., 14 COUCH ON INSURANCE 850.30 (“With respect to constitutionality, no provisions of federal 

or state constitutions are violated by provisions of standard or other insurance policies for arbitration 

or appraisal as to the amount of the loss in case of disagreement between thc parties,”). 
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In short, appraisal clauses in insurance policies have long been a functional - and 

judicially sanctioned - mcchanism for resolving disagreemcnts between insured and insurer over 

the amount of a given loss. As recognized by the authorities cited above, thc amount of loss is often 

thc only disputed issue between the parties, so the appraisal clause provides a quick and efficient 

means for dispute resolution which can avoid all litigation between the partics. 

2. The anomalous Third District decision in American Reliance PI. Country Walk 

Against this general - and uniform - backdrop of approval for the smoothly- 

working dispute-resolution mechanism set up by appraisal clauses, the Florida Third District Court 

of Appeals’ decision in American Reliance w. Country Walk stands as a complete anomaly. As set 

forth above, the Third District panel which decidcd the instant case, clearly felt - and stated- that 

the American Reliance v. Country Walk decision is wrong and that it conflicts with all of the other 

applicable law. The Third District accordingly certificd the issue to this Court. 

The question presented is whethcr the conflict should be resolved in favor of the 

established law of this Court and the other courts of this state or in favor of the panel’s decision in 

American Reliance v. Country Walk, (Cope, J. dissenting). We turn then to the rationalc of the 

American Reliance v. Country Walk decision for purposes of comparing it with the basis of the 

established law with which it conflicts. 

Thc Third District majority panel in American Reliance v. Country Walk held that an 

appraisal clause was unenforccable because the clause lacked ‘mutuality of obligation’. 632 So. 2d 

at 108. This conclusion was based on the fact that, under the policy’s terms, the appraisers’ 

10 
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determination of the amount of loss would be binding only on that issue, and would not affect the 

insurer’s right to deny the claim: 

Appraisal provisions in insurancc policies may be construed as 
agreements to arbitrate. [cites omitted]. Here, however, the insurer’s 
reservation of its right to deny the claim destroys mutuality of 
obligation, is incompatible with the goals of arbitration, and renders 
illusory any purported agreement to submit to binding arbitration. 

632 So, 2d at 107-10K3 However, as Judge Cope pointed out in the dissent, the fact that the policy 

reserved the right to dcny a claim notwithstanding appraisal was intended‘to state, quite simply, that 

if the insured requests an appraisal and the insurer proceeds with the appraisal process, the insurer 

has not: thereby abandoned any coverage defenses which may be available to it,” 632 So. 2d at 108, 

3. General insurance cases with which this case and American Reliance pt, Country 
Wulk conflict 

Judgc Cope’s dissent in Amcricun Reliance v. Country Walk reflects the many years of 

established Florida insurance law with which the Americun Reliance v. Country Wulk majority opinion 

We note that the American Reliunce v. Country Walk appraisal clause contains a final 
sentence - not present in the State Farm policy at issuc here - which states “If there is an 
appraisal, we will still retain our right to deny the claim.” 632 So. 2d at 107. As indicated in text 
above, Judge Cope pointed otit in the dissent that this language merely stands for the commonplace 
proposition - reflected in the general case law of Florida cited in this brief - that agreements to 
arbitrate some portions of an insurance dispute do not mean that coverage issues are to be arbitrated 
or waived, sincc coverage questions arc for the courts. State Farm’s policy has a provision in the 
general conditions section of tho policy that: “Our request for an appraisal or examination shall not 
waive any of our rights.” (R. 49; A.23). Insofar as the Amcrican Reliance v. Count? Walk and State 
Farm clauscs simply have the effect of reserving coverage issues and defenses for court determination 
they are similar in intent, are in accord with Florida law, and should not be held to destroy mutuality 
of obligation as argucd in text. If the wording and placement of thc American Reliance v. Country 
Walk “retain our right to deny the claim” scntence is deemed to indicate an intent not to be bound 
by the appraisers’ determination as to amount of loss, we note only that the State Farm policy 
language is different, so construction of the Americun Reliance v .  Country Wulk policy should not 
govern here. 

3 
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others. Roe v. Arnica Mutual Insurmce Co., 533 So. 2d 279 (Fla, 1988); Midwest Mutual Insurance 

Co. v. Santiesteban, 287 So. 2d 665 (Fla, 1973); Hanover Fire Insurance Co. v. Lewis, 10 So. 297 (Fla. 

1891); Allstate Imurunce Co. v. Runasruk, 561 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). 

A perfect example of insurancc contracts which validly agree to submit some -but 

not all - issues to arbitration is found in uninsured motorist policies. There is a large and 

completely uniform body of Florida law holding that uninsurcd motorist policy provisions requiring 

arbitration on the issues of thc liability of the uninsured tortfeasor and damages are binding, 

notwithstanding the fact that the issue of covcrage remains one for determination by the courts. See,

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