SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,200

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

VS.

ELICER LICEA and HERMIDA LICEA,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ELICER and HERMIDA LICEA

Hal Vogel, Esq. Counsel for Respondents 20801 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 454 Aventura, Florida 33180 (305) 937-6292

Barry I. Finkel, Esq. Frankel and Finkel, P.A. Co-Counsel for Respondents 404 E. Atlantic Blvd. Pompano Beach, Florida 33060 (305) 942-2000

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

The deluge of "unnecessary litigation" predicted by State Farm (Petitioner's Brief at 17, n. 5) will not come to pass. Insurers with bona fide coverage defenses will be prompted to file declaratory judgment actions; otherwise, they can and should allow appraisal to

⁷ The law seems divergent as to the procedure to be employed if both damages and coverage are disputed. Some cases hold that coverage should be litigated before damages are arbitrated, e.g., State Farm Fire & Cas. v. Glass, 421 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); others indicate that damages should be arbitrated before coverage is litigated. Respondents believe that the better view is that since reserved coverage questions can only be decided by a court, all issues should be determined in litigation. Criterion Ins. Co. v. Amador, 479 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). This serves to avoid multiplicity of suits. Kenilworth Ins. Co. v. Drake, 396 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981).

determine the amount of the loss with no reservation or restriction. Insurers can and will tailor their non-waiver clauses to insure mutuality, and to delineate the precise elements of a claim that will be resolved. Insurers who insist on reserving and litigating "defenses", should logically expect to litigate the amount at the same time, especially in casualty losses to private dwellings, where the two issues are so intertwined they should be resolved together anyway.

This will avoid the risk of inconsistent adjudications by an umpire and a judge, and save the expense of an appraisal, which is often prohibitively more expensive than litigation. North American Van Lines v. Collyer, 616 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). To expect an umpire to understand the nuances of the law or its application to the policy is unrealistic; yet, with a charge to determine "the amount of the loss", with no legal or factual constraints, and then have a judge rule on exclusions, defenses, and limitations directly affecting the amount, creates inevitable and unnecessary confusion and conflict. Both parties going in should know that the matter will be fully considered and fully compensated in arbitration -- or in the courts. One proceeding in one forum, with all parties on equal footing, should fully and finally resolve a claim.

II. CONFLICT JURISDICTION DOES NOT EXIST

A. There is no interdistrict conflict.

The cases from the First, Second, Fourth, and Fifth Districts cited by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>State Farm Fire and Casualty v. Licea</u>, do not conflict with the Third District's decision, or can be harmonized with it. They do not involve the effect of nebulous non-waiver provisions. They involve different facts and different insurance policies.

In order for conflict jurisdiction to exist, the decision below must be in express and direct conflict with the decisions of another district court of appeal, or of this Court on the same question of law. Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 1994); Times Publishing Co. v. Russell, 615 So 2d 158 (Fla. 1993). Conflict must be obvious and patently reflected in the decisions relied on and must result from an application of law to facts which are in essence on all fours, without any issue as to the question in character of proof. Trustees of International Improvement Fund v. Lobean, 127 So. 2d 98, 101 (Fla. 1961). Where a cause is factually or legally distinguishable from those cited in conflict, the Supreme Court should discharge jurisdiction. Dept. of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1953); Olvera v. State, 641 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

In <u>Kenilworth Insurance Co. v. Drake</u>, 396 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), an uninsured motorist case, the insured brought a declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration of coverage. The insurance companies objected to maintenance of the lawsuit, claiming that the policy provisions required liability⁸ and damages to be arbitrated, not litigated. However, the denial of the insurers' motion to dismiss was affirmed based on a holding that the trial court "can and should adjudicate the entire controversy, so as to avoid multiplicity of suits." 396 So. 2d at 838. The court therefore affirmed a judgment on a jury verdict which decided the issues of damages and liability. Consequently, <u>Kenilworth</u> stands

⁸ Analogizing UM cases to hurricane damage cases is complicated by the blurring of "coverage" and "liability", especially when "liability" is usually in the context of a third-party tort-feasor's liability in connection with a suit by an insured against his own uninsured motorist carrier. There is some confusion in the caselaw caused by the use of the terms "liability" and "coverage". State Farm Fire & Casualty v. Glass, 421 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

for the proposition that if one party seeks to reserve to itself the privilege of litigation, then the underlying policy against successive or repetitive proceedings is advanced by litigating the entire controversy, rather than dividing it up between arbitration and litigation. Therefore, <u>Kenilworth</u> is consistent with, rather than in conflict with, the result below.

Similarly, <u>U.S.F & G. v. Woolard</u>, 523 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) does not conflict with the denial of State Farm's motion to compel appraisal. <u>Woolard reversed</u> an order compelling arbitration. There, the issue was whether an alleged tortfeasor qualified as an "uninsured motorist", or if for any reason, the insured could not recover damages from the tortfeasor. These were threshold questions that had to be determined by the court *prior* to arbitration, assuring that the arbitration determination could not be disavowed. The insurer did not attempt to reserve its right to deny or reduce the claim after arbitration; rather, it promptly sought such a determination of coverage issues before arbitration.

Montalvo v. Traveler's Indemnity Co., 643 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) held that the trial court had the discretion to reduce an arbitration award on an uninsured motorist policy, by considering the "other insurance" clause of the policy, but could not, under the facts of the case, reduce the award since the insurer had not joined the "other insurer". Unlike in Montalvo, here there is no issue whether another insurer has to pay part of the Liceas' damages, or the effect of failure to join other parties. Further, Montalvo is of limited value, since North Carolina law was applied to interpret the policy and there is no

⁹ Courts generally have no qualms about preventing double recoveries or windfalls upon confirmation of an award when it appears a third party has paid or is obligated to pay all or a portion of the damages, e.g., <u>Bruno v. Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, 386 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)(insurer could raise the fact that after the arbitration, the tortfeasor paid the insured in full).

suggestion that the appraisal clauses were similar, or that the policy contained an "escape hatch". Nor was there any discussion of whether the appraisal clause suffered from lack of mutuality or was otherwise unenforceable. Finally, <u>Montalvo</u> was decided after <u>Country</u> <u>Walk</u>, but does not cite to it, let alone suggest any conflict with it.

JJF of Palm Beach, Inc. v. State Farm Fire and Casualty, 634 So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) involved a business interruption claim under a fire policy, where the judge disagreed with the arbitrator's determination of what constituted a reasonable time to repair the premises. The Court held that a trial judge could not review an arbitrator's decision for legal and factual accuracy under the rubric of deciding "coverage". The coverage question reserved for the court is "whether the claim is arguably within the class of claims covered by the policy." 634 So. 2d at 1091. Assuming that State Farm's non-waiver applies only to coverage defenses, by contending that the Liceas' roof damage resulted from causes not covered, e.g., wear and tear or substandard workmanship, State Farm effectively reserves the power to undermine the appraisers' determination under the rubric of litigating coverage -- contrary to the rationale of JJF^{10} . Furthermore, it is anybody's guess what precise issues are "reserved for the court", in light of the reservation of State Farm's rights. Once again, there was no discussion of ambiguous non-waiver clauses and their impact upon the appraisal provision. This case does not deal with the question of mutuality or illusory promises.

¹⁰ As the Third District aptly observed in <u>Country Walk</u>, a dispute over PIP or UM benefits differs from a claim under a casualty policy for hurricane losses. In the former, issues of "coverage" are independent of the amount of the loss, e.g., whether the tortfeasor was an "uninsured motorist" or whether other insurers are required to contribute. In the latter, issues of "coverage" are inextricably bound up with the "amount" of the loss.

Respondents submit that conflict jurisdiction is unavailable to resolve what is essentially an intradistrict conflict between panels of the Third District regarding construction and effect of non-waiver clauses in homeowners' policies. The Country Walk majority interpreted it according to its plain terms: a unilateral, unfettered right to deny the result of the appraisal. Dissenting Judge Cope (and presumably, the reluctant panel in Licea) construed the right to deny to mean the insurer has not abandoned coverage defenses by proceeding to arbitrate. 632 So. 2d at 198. To the extent the construction of the non-waiver clauses presents an intradistrict conflict, that disagreement is to be settled by the district court en banc pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.331. By denying the panel's request for en banc consideration¹¹, any such "conflict" has been put to rest by the district court. As explained by the Committee Notes to Rule 9.331 regarding the 1982 amendment, "the new appellate structural scheme requires the district courts of appeal to resolve conflict within their respective districts through the en banc process." None of the purportedly conflicting decisions discuss construction of the non-waiver clauses, and there is no indication that the appraisal or loss payment provisions were similar to those in State Farm's policy. Compare, Excelsior Ins. Co. v. Pomona Park Bar & Package Store, 369 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1979)(Supreme Court had jurisdiction to review district court decision construing language in insurance contract where such decision conflicted with another district court's decision

¹¹ The panel decision in State Farm v. Licea recounts that:

[[]A] request, addressed to the entire court, was made to set this matter for en banc consideration so that <u>Country Walk</u> could be revisited and possibly receded from. That request was denied.

construing identical language in another insurance contract).

State Farm's request that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction "to reaffirm the validity and enforceability of appraisal clauses" should be declined, as the decision below did not invalidate all appraisal clauses.

B. There is no conflict with Hanover Fire.

Nor is there conflict with <u>Hanover Fire Insurance Co. v Lewis</u>, 10 So. 297 (Fla. 1891). American Reliance sought to invoke this court's jurisdiction based on an asserted conflict with <u>Hanover Fire</u>. (See Petitioner's March 31, 1994 Jurisdictional Brief and Respondent's April 20, 1994 Jurisdictional Brief in <u>American Reliance Ins. Co. v. The Village Homes at Country Walk, et al.</u>, Case No. 83,405). This Court denied that Petition. (R 248).

As noted by Country Walk in its Response, the arbitration provisions in the insurance policy and supporting documents at issue in <u>Hanover Fire</u> are wholly distinguishable from the arbitration provision considered by the Third District in <u>American Reliance</u> (as well as in <u>State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Licea</u>, 649 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)). The arbitration provision in <u>Hanover Fire</u> does not provide the insurer with the unilateral right to deny the claim, or resurrect or reassert its "rights." Nor did the insurer in Hanover Fire seek to carve out from the appraisal "policy defenses" or "coverage" issues with sweeping,

¹² The sole argument in American Reliance's Petition was that:

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of this Court in <u>Hanover Fire Ins. Co. v. Lewis</u>, 29 Fla. 209, 10 So. 297 (1891).

ambiguous language. Rather, in <u>Hanover Fire</u>, "both in the policy and in the subsequent submission to the appraisers the liability of the insurers was *expressly excepted* and reserved". 10 So. at 303. Thus, the appraisal provision in the Hanover Fire policy employed specific language that clearly indicated the respective liability of the two insurance companies would not be decided in arbitration, and both the insured and the insurer ratified this understanding with an equally definitive written agreement. Here, State Farm's attempted reservation was unilateral, misleading, unfair, unexpected, and certainly not "expressly excepted". The "non-waiver" or "right to deny" clauses preserve for the insurer a hidden agenda of "defenses" to undo, delay, or reduce an appraisal.

Finally, this Court found in <u>Hanover Fire</u> that mutuality was not lacking based in large part upon the separate written agreement clearly defining the issues that were and were not going to be determined in the appraisal. In contrast, State Farm's reservation of policy defenses was a unilateral pronouncement. Also, there is no indication that the policy in <u>Hanover Fire</u>, or any of the policies in the cases cited by State Farm (pages 11-12) contained an unconditional promise to pay the appraisal, as well as a reservation not to pay it.

C. State Farm's appeal was untimely or unauthorized.

As recited in the Liceas' Motion to Dismiss or Quash Appeal (R 5-75), the trial court's March 30, 1994 order denying State Farm's motion to stay counterclaim was tantamount to a denial of a motion to compel appraisal. See, Balboa Ins. Co. v. W.G. Mills,

¹³ The appraisal was completed as agreed, and the only issue was whether the insurer could introduce the appraisal as evidence of damages in the insured's action to recover policy benefits.

Inc., 403 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) (motion to dismiss based on contractual right to arbitration is, in substance, also a motion to compel arbitration). This March 30, 1994 order determined State Farm was not entitled to arbitration based on unenforceability. However, State Farm did not appeal this Order within 30 days, and could not resurrect its waived appeal by appealing the April 27, 1994 Order denying its Motion to Appoint Umpire. Hawthorne Industries, Inc. v. Transohio Savings Bank, 573 So. 2d 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (corporation's motion to vacate an order appointing receiver, which was made 40 days after the appointment order was entered and argued only the merits of the appointment order, was tantamount to an untimely motion for rehearing, and corporation could not obtain more time to file an appeal of the order appointing receiver by making a motion to vacate the appointment order and appealing from its denial).

Alternatively, the 1993 amendment to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C)(v), concerning appeals of non-final orders, which changed the phrase "whether a party is entitled to arbitration" to "the entitlement of a party to arbitration", can be read so that only an order entitling a party to arbitration is appealable. Alphagraphics Franchising, Inc. v. Stebbins, 617 So. 2d 463, 464, n. 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (J. Farmer, dissenting). Under this construction¹⁴, this Court lacks jurisdiction since the appealed Order does not entitle State Farm to arbitration.

Under an "equally plausible" interpretation, an order that determines entitlement to arbitration - one way or the other - is appealable. <u>Id.</u>; <u>American Reliance Ins. o. v. The</u>

¹⁴ As Judge Farmer points out, though this construction places Florida at odds with federal appellate provisions on arbitration orders, two reasons argue in favor of this more restrictive interpretation. First of all, provisions for non-final review should be construed narrowly. Secondly, "if the drafters intended no real change in meaning, then why change the text at all - especially without an explanatory note". 617 So. 2d at 464, n. 2.

Village Homes at Country Walk, 632 So. 2d 106, 107 n. 1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), rev. denied, 640 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 1994). In that event, the March 30, 1994 order was appealable, and State Farm cannot challenge that ruling after 57 days.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Respondents respectfully request that this Court decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, discharge jurisdiction, and/or affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeals.